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A Brief History of Trentham Gardens in the Sutherland Papers

The Sutherland Papers contain maps, plans and nearly three hundred years of accounts, all of great value in tracing the history of the designed landscape at Trentham.

Beginning in 1633 with the Building and Garden Accounts
, Sir Richard Leveson’s garden comprised a series of walled enclosures containing a “high mount”, a pool, a fountain, two turrets as dovecotes, arbours constructed within hedges, seats and an orchard

In 1697 a water feature in the Dutch style was constructed as twin canals with a central walkway, which was planned by Sir John Leveson-Gower’s chaplain, George Plaxton and described by him in a letter of 1695
. The garden at this time had a bowling ground (1679) and a Greenhouse (1681), alterations were also made to the walls There was coppiced woodland (The Coppy) in the park through which formal rides were cut in subsequent years
 and also clumps of trees, paled around. 

More landscaping was done in the early eighteenth century for another Sir John, later Earl Gower, who had the house rebuilt during the years 1707-1710. Unsigned drawings
 exist which have been attributed to Charles Bridgman and a plan by Thomas Burton 1722
 shows that some of this work was carried out. Four avenues had been created radiating westwards from the house, the walled enclosures were removed and a two acre kitchen garden built to the north west of the house. The accounts show that hotbeds and a hot wall (1732) were constructed in this kitchen garden
, more walks were made in the Coppy and an amphitheatre had been made in the park.

In the 1740’s work began on a new kitchen garden of five acres, located east of the house, which included a hothouse, hot beds, hot walls. In addition a cascade, bridge and fosse wall were made, the bowling green was extended to form a Lawn stretching into the park and the “long walk” was removed from the canals
 and as the dam on the west side had already been breached, this effectively created a lake of about fifty acres.

When the kitchen garden was completed, a planting plan was drawn up probably by the new gardener, John Brunton

The improvements were continued by the second Earl Gower who consulted Lancelot (Capability) Brown and a plan was drawn up in 1759
. Brown increased the size of the lake to 80 acres, diverting the river into it on its north eastern edge and created a drive from the London Road between Tittensor and Trentham along its western shore to the house. He planted many trees to “screen the village, offices and edges of the water” and extended the “fosse wall”
.

In the 1770s the accounts record much earth moving from the area south of the lake to the fields north of the house and the widening of the river
. Repairs were made to the hermitage and deer barns in the park and nearly 8000 trees were planted in the Hanchurch Hills.

In 1803 George Granville Leveson Gower, Marquis of Stafford,  succeeded his father. He had alterations made to the house by the architect C.H. Tatham and a small formal garden with a fountain and gravel walks made on the south side of the house, screened by a shrubbery on the east side and a new conservatory to the west
.

In 1812, James Loch (and later his son George) was appointed as Lord Stafford’s auditor and from this date until 1877 hundreds of letters passed between Loch and the local land agents, many of which refer to the garden, gardeners and garden expenditure.
 

From 1834 to 1847 Charles Barry completely remodelled the house and gardens
 for the second Duke and Duchess of Sutherland
. The house and hard landscaping were in the Italianate style and the gardens comprised three formal parterres
, with statues and fountains flanked by shrubberies and leading, on the east side, to a series of small formal gardens with an arboretum blending into an informal area along the Lower Ley, which was designed by the gardener George Fleming. Fleming’s planting of the parterres, plant and fruit houses were much described and praised in contemporary horticultural magazines.

The most detailed garden plan for this period is also the most fragile, D593/H/13/4. It probably dates from 1853 which was when Fleming diverted the river away from the lake in an attempt to prevent increasing pollution.

The third Duke who succeeded in 1861 was not interested in gardens and he insisted on a reduction in expenditure. By 1871, correspondence shows that all of Fleming’s work had been removed, the lower parterre was permanently planted with shrubs and the upper parterre with annuals, instead of the tender perennials which had to be raised in hot houses. The kitchen garden had become virtually a commercial enterprise, surplus fruit being sent to market when it was not needed at the Duke’s London residence. The house had become uninhabitable due to the smells from the river which brought down sewage from the Potteries towns. At the beginning of the twentieth century, although the fourth Duke had offered it to both the County Council and the Borough of Stoke on Trent as an educational establishment, the house was demolished and Trentham Gardens Limited was set up to manage the grounds as a municipal park. New facilities included tennis courts, a bowling green, bandstand, an outdoor swimming pool and a ballroom was built on the site of the kitchen garden
.
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� D593/R/1/2


� Illustrated in Robert Plot’s ‘Natural History of Staffordshire’ (1686), p.267. William Salt Library


� D593/P/13/9


� D593/H/13/37


� D593/H/13/3


� D593/H/3/341


� D593/F/3/2/7


� D593/F/3/2/21


� D593/H/13/38


� D593/H/13/1


� Brown’s contract is in the National Archives, Kew.


� D593/F/3/2/51


� D593/H/3/444


� D593/K/1 series


� The key drawings relating to the planning of the garden are in the Potteries Museum.


� Detailed estimates and progress reports for this period can be found in D593/K/1/10 series.


� D4092/G/1/6 & 7


� D593/H/13/69





